
CITY OF FRANKLIN 
 

ENVIRONMENTAL COMMISSION MEETING 
Wednesday, June 22, 2022 – 7:00 P.M. 

FRANKLIN CITY HALL COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin 

 
AGENDA 

 
I. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
II. CITIZEN COMMENT 

 
III. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Minutes of the regular meeting of May 25, 2022 
 

IV. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

B. Review of articles for the City of Franklin Newsletter.   

C. Environmental Commission participation in City of Franklin Unified Development 
Ordinance (UDO) Task Force, to provide assistance in revisions to the Natural 
Resource Protection Standards and other elements of the City of Franklin UDO. 

D. Funding for Environmental Commission activities. 

V. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Environmental Commission involvement in Franklin Night Out 2022, August 1. 

B. Request by City of Franklin resident Jeremy Stimpson to consider City of Franklin 
participation in regional Solar Group Buy program.  

C. Future cleanup event with Root-Pike WIN (Watershed Initiative Network), a 
501(c)(3) non-profit organization, Southeastern Wisconsin Invasive Species 
Consortium, a 501(c)(3) organization, and other community organizations . 

D. Common Council referral of “No Mow May” to the Environmental Commission for 
research and recommendation back to Common Council. 

E. Creation of citizen volunteer support group to assist in invasive control projects, park 
and municipal property beautification and other such projects as directed by 
Environmental Commission. 

F.    Discuss modifications to Chapter 80 Article 2 re: clean up of pet waste on property 
other than the pet owners.   

G. Discussion of stormwater outfall issue in Wehr Nature Center. 



 
Environmental Commission Agenda 
June 22, 2022 
Page 2 
 
VI. SCHEDULE NEXT MEETING 

A. July 27, 2022 

VII. ADJOURNMENT 

Notice is given that a majority of the Common Council may attend this meeting to gather 
information about an Agenda item over which they have decision making responsibility.  
This may constitute a meeting of the Council per State ex rel. Badke v. Greendale Village 
Board, even though the Common Council will not take formal action at this meeting. 
 

 Notice is given that upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the
 needs of disabled individuals through appropriate aids and services.  For additional 
 information, please contact the Franklin City Clerk’s office at (414) 425-7500.   
 
 



 

 

 
 

  
CITY OF FRANKLIN 

ENVIRONMENTAL COMMISSION MEETING  MINUTES 
May 25, 2022  

 

 
unapproved 

 
 

CALL TO ORDER & ROLL CALL 
 

I. 
 

Chair Linda Horn called the May 25, 2022 regular 
meeting of the Environmental Commission to order at 
7:01 p.m. in the Common  Council Chambers, Franklin 
City Hall, 9229 West Loomis Road, Franklin, Wisconsin. 
 
On roll call, the following were in attendance: Chair 
Linda Horn, Vice Chair Jamie Groark, Commissioners 
James Cieslak and Sudarshan Sharma. Excused was 
Alderman John Nelson. Absent was Commissioner Tom 
Niemiec.  Also present was Associate Planner Marion 
Ecks.     
 

CITIZEN COMMENT 
 

II. The citizen comment period opened at 7:07 p.m. and 
closed at 7:07 p.m.. No Citizens present.  
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES III.  
Minutes of the regular meeting of  
April 27, 2022. 
 
 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS  
Environmental Commission 
involvement in Arbor Day 2022 event 
(May 7, 2022).  
 
 
Review of articles for the City of 
Franklin Newsletter.  
 
Environmental Commission 
participation in City of Franklin 
Unified Development Ordinance 
(UDO) Task Force, to provide 
assistance in revisions to the Natural 
Resource Protection Standards and 
other elements of the City of Franklin 
UDO.  
 
Funding for Environmental 
Commission activities.  
 
 
 

    A. 
 
 
 
 
 IV. 
    A. 
 
 
 
    
    B. 
 
 
     C. 
 
 
   
    
    
     
 
     
     D. 
 
 
    
 

Commissioner Cieslak moved and Commissioner Sharma 
seconded a motion to approve the minutes of the 
regular meeting held April 27, 2022. On voice vote, all 
voted ‘aye’. Motion carried (4-0-2). 
 
 
Drawing for garden plants. Winner has delayed ordering 
to next spring. More shrubs for Arbor Day next year to 
promote Buckthorn removal. Discussion only. No action 
taken. 
 
Buckthorn survey and photo from Arbor Day to post to 
Website. Discussion only. No action taken.  
 
Draft chapter of zoning. Additional public hearings will 
be forthcoming as revision gets closer to finalization.  
Discussion only. No action taken.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
High priority        – saplings 
                            -  garden giveaway 
                            -  seed giveaway  
Medium/High   – refreshments 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
Election of Officers: Chairman, Vice-
Chairman and Chairman’s 
appointment of the Secretary.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Request by City of Franklin resident 
Jeremy Stimpson to consider City of 
Franklin participation in regional Solar 
Group Buy program.  
 
Future cleanup events and workshops 
with Root-Pike WIN (Watershed 
Initiative Network), a 501(c)(3) non-
profit organization, Southeastern 
Wisconsin Invasive Species 
Consortium, a 501(c)(3) non-profit 
organization, and other community 
organizations.  
 
2021 Water Quality Report.  
 
 Common Council referral of “No 
Mow May” to the Environmental 
Commission for research and 
recommendation back to the 
Common Council.  
 
SCHEDULE NEXT MEETING 
 
 
 
 

 
 
  
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  V. 
     A.  
 
 
 
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
      B.  
 
 
 
     
      C.  
 
 
 
      
 
    
 
    
     D. 
 
     E. 
       
    
 
 
 
 VI. 
    A. 
 
  
 

                             -  graphics for t-shirts for 
                             -  community events 
Low                     - gift cards for speakers 
                            - pre-planned garden 
                            - seed packets 
                            - ?? cleaning 
                            - tablets – to remain paperless 
 
Planner Ecks will take to finance department with 
recommendations. Discussion only. No action taken.  
 
 
 
Vice Chair Groark nominated Linda Horn to Chair. 
Seconded by Commissioner Cieslak. On voice vote, all 
voted ‘aye’. Motion carried (4-0-2). 
 
Vice Chair Groark nominated Commission Cieslak to 
Vice Chair.  Seconded by Commissioner Sharma.  On 
voice note, all voted ‘aye’. Motion carried (4-0-2). 
 
Chair Horn appointed Commissioner Groark to Secretary 
 
Discussion only. No action taken. 
 
 
 
 
1.  May 28th Grobschmidt Park clean-up 
2.  June 25th O.C.S.D. and Root Pike WIN at Forest Ridge                                
Elementary. 
3.  National Night Out August 1st from 6:00 – 9:00 pm at 
the Franklin Public Library.    
Discussion only. No action taken.  
 
 
 
Discussion only. No action taken.  
 
Find more research on benefits vs negatives. Discussion 
only. No action taken. 
 
 
 
 
 
June 22, 2022 
 
 



 

 

ADJOURNMENT 
Notice is given that upon reasonable 
notice, efforts will be made to 
accommodate the needs of disabled 
individuals through appropriate aids 
and services.  For additional 
information, please contact the 
Franklin City Clerk’s office at (414) 
425-7500 

VII. 
   A. 
 
 
 
 

Commissioner Cieslak moved and Vice Chair Groark   
seconded to adjourn the Environmental Commission 
meeting on May 25, 2022 at 8:09 pm. On voice vote, all 
voted 'aye'. Motion carried (4-0-2). 

   
 



14-Jun-22

Category Item Amount Quantity Total Priority Year Comments

Events Saplings DPW Budget High 2023 Arbor Day

Events Garden giveaways $150 2 $300 High 2023 Night Out

Events Seed giveaways $400 1 $400 High 2023

Events Refreshments $250 1 $250 Medium 2023

Events Gift Cards $100 1 $100 Medium 2023 for speakers

Materials Printing - Color $0 1000 $439 High 2023 Event Handouts

Materials Printing - B/W $0 500 $4 Existing 2023 Packets (20Px12x3)

Printing - Color $0 250 $110 Existing 2023

Materials Tablet Devices $150 7 $1,050 Medium 2023 for meeting materials

Program Native Habitat Restoration Project

Preplanned Garden $140 2 $280 Low 2023

Seed packets $400 1 $400 Low 2023 Public/City Park

Site clearing $300 1 $300 Low 2023 Depends on site

Events T-Shirts for Commission/Staff

Art / Setup $50 1 $50 Medium 2023

Shirt $12 10 $120 Medium 2023

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0

$0 Without tablets: $2,753

Event Program Maintenance Equipment

Staff Materials

$3,803

Categories

Grand Total

*Commissioners OK 

with paying individual 

shirt cost

Environmental Commission Budget Worksheet



A. 

B. 

C. 

City of Franklin, WI
Thursday, June 16, 2022

Chapter 80. Animals

Article II. Dogs, Tiny Horses and Cats
[Adopted 8-5-1997 by Ord. No. 97-1461 as Sec. 13.11 of the 1997 Code]

§ 80-4. Definitions.

As used in this article, the following terms shall have the meanings indicated:

AT-LARGE
To be off the premises of the owner. A dog or cat shall not be considered at-large if:

It is attached to a leash of sufficient strength to restrain such dog or cat and not more than 12
feet in length, provided that such leash is held by a person competent to control such dog or
cat.

It is properly restrained within a motor vehicle or trailer.

It is upon property approved or licensed by the City for a use allowing such animals to be at-
large under conditions as may be set forth under such license or approval, such as a dog
park, a dog day-care establishment, a kennel, or the like; or it is upon private residential-use
property premises with the consent of the owner or tenant of such premises.
[Amended 4-7-2009 by Ord. No. 2009-1970]

CAT
All the domesticated members of the feline family.

DOG
All domesticated members of the canis family, male or female.

OWNER
Any person owning, harboring or keeping a dog, tiny horse or cat. The occupant of any premises
on which a dog, tiny horse or cat remains or to which it customarily returns daily for a period of
seven days is presumed to be harboring or keeping a dog, tiny horse or cat within the meaning of
this definition.

TINY HORSE
Any horse weighing less than 200 pounds at maturity.

VICIOUS
A dog, tiny horse or cat which suddenly assaults or attacks a person while such person is walking
or riding on any street, highway or alley or within any other public areas within the city. It shall also
mean a dog, tiny horse or cat with a propensity to attack or bite persons, whether such persons
are on public or private property when such propensity is known or ought reasonably to be known
to the owner.

§ 80-5. License required.

https://ecode360.com/print/8428856#8428856
https://ecode360.com/print/8428857#8428857
https://ecode360.com/print/8428858#8428858
https://ecode360.com/print/8428855#8428855
https://ecode360.com/print/8428859#8428859
https://ecode360.com/print/8428860#8428860
https://ecode360.com/print/8428861#8428861
https://ecode360.com/print/8428862#8428862
https://ecode360.com/print/8428863#8428863


[1]

A. 

B. 

A. 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

B. 

C. 

All dogs, tiny horses and cats shall be properly licensed. Every person residing in the City who
owns a dog, tiny horse or cat which is five months of age on January 1, or five months of age
within the license year, shall apply annually for a license. The license applicant for a dog or tiny
horse must make application by the last day of March each year and pay an annual license fee as
provided in Chapter 169, Licenses and Permits. The license applicant for a cat must make
application by the last day of February each year and pay an annual license fee as provided in
Chapter 169. Any late application fee for dogs, cats or tiny horses shall be assessed a late charge
in addition to the license fee.
[Amended 10-5-2004 by Ord. No. 2004-1817; 11-18-2008 by Ord. No. 2008-1959[1]]

Editor's Note: This ordinance also provided that it shall take effect 1-1-2009.

No license shall be issued for any dog or cat unless the applicant presents a current certificate of
rabies vaccination as provided in § 95.21, Wis. Stats.

§ 80-6. State regulations.

Ch. 174, Wis. Stats., pertaining to the licensing of dogs, is made a part of this article by reference.

§ 80-7. Dogs, tiny horses or cats at-large.

No owner of any dog, tiny horse or cat shall permit or suffer such animal to be at-large. Any dog, tiny
horse or cat found at-large shall be deemed to be so at the permission or at the sufferance of its
owner.

§ 80-8. Setting at-large.

No person except the owner of a dog, tiny horse or cat or his or her agent shall open any door or gate
or any private premises or otherwise entice or enable any dog, tiny horse or cat to leave any private
premises for the purpose or with the result of setting such dog, tiny horse or cat at-large.

§ 80-9. Keeping of vicious or barking dogs.

No person shall knowingly keep, own or harbor any vicious dog or any dog which frequently or
habitually barks, yelps or howls.

Whenever any dog has been found, when unprovoked, to inflict bodily harm on a person or
domesticated animal on public property, the dog shall on the first occasion be deemed a
"dangerous dog." The owner of a dangerous dog shall comply with the following requirements in
order to keep the animal within the City of Franklin:
[Amended 3-20-2012 by Ord. No. 2012-2070]

All dangerous dogs shall be kept or harbored in a visibly fenced yard or securely leashed or
chained to an immovable object when outside of the home.

All dangerous dogs shall be on a leash no longer than 10 feet and muzzled in a humane
manner while at large.

If a dangerous dog is kept in an apartment or condominium, it must be leashed and muzzled
when outside the dwelling unit and on common or shared grounds.

Whenever any dog has been found, when unprovoked, to inflict bodily harm on a person or
domesticated animal on public or private property on or in two or more separate occasions or
incidents, or has a propensity to bite or attack persons on public or private property, said dog shall
be deemed a "vicious dog." The owner of a vicious dog shall comply with one of the following

https://ecode360.com/print/8428865#8428865
https://ecode360.com/print/8428866#8428866
https://ecode360.com/print/8428871#8428871
https://ecode360.com/print/16220882#16220882
https://ecode360.com/print/16220883#16220883
https://ecode360.com/print/16220884#16220884
https://ecode360.com/print/8428872#8428872
https://ecode360.com/print/16220885#16220885
https://ecode360.com/print/8431177#8431177
https://ecode360.com/print/8431177#8431177
https://ecode360.com/print/8431204#8431204


(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

[2]

D. 

[1]

A. 

B. 

A. 

directives within 72 hours after service of a written order by the City Health Officer or a police
officer:
[Added 3-20-2012 by Ord. No. 2012-2070[2]; amended 2-15-2022 by Ord. No. 2022-2498]

The vicious dog shall be removed from the City of Franklin; or

The vicious dog shall be euthanized by its owner. If the Franklin Police Department has
issued a ten-day quarantine order for the vicious dog, the owner shall not euthanize the
vicious dog until 10 days after the found last occasion or incident upon which the order was
based; or

The vicious dog shall remain within the owner's premises. The premises shall plainly display
at all points of entrance a warning as to the vicious nature of the dog. If the premises support
a single or two-family home or condominium, the enclosure shall be a visible fence. If the
premises support an apartment or condominium structure, all doors shall display a vicious
dog warning and the dog shall not leave the apartment building or condominium unit except
on a leash no longer than 10 feet and muzzled in humane manner while at large.

Editor's Note: This ordinance also provided for the redesignation of former Subsection C as
Subsection D.

Whenever it shall be found, upon the complaint of any person residing within the city and upon
investigation and verification by the Police Department, that any dog habitually barks, howls, yelps
or in any other way disturbs the peace, such dog shall be removed from the city by the owner or
keeper within 72 hours after service of written notice by the Police Department. In case of failure
to do so, each day of such failure will constitute a separate offense.
[Amended 3-20-2012 by Ord. No. 2012-2070]

Editor's Note: See § 178-5, Public nuisances affecting peace and safety.

§ 80-10. Manner of keeping dogs or tiny horses.

All pens, kennels or other structures wherein any dog or tiny horse is kept shall be of such construction
so as to be easily cleaned and kept in good repair and shall be maintained in such a manner as not to
cause or create a health hazard.

§ 80-11. Injury to property by dogs, tiny horses or cats.

No person shall permit a dog or tiny horse to go upon any public area or upon private lands or
premises without the permission of the owner of the lands or premises and break, bruise, tear up,
crush or injure any lawn, plant, tree, shrub or garden or any other object upon such public or
private lands and premises or to defecate thereon.

Any person governing and accompanying a dog or cat off the premises of its owner, including its
owner, shall carry a waste deposit receptacle and a hand shovel or other reasonably similar
device and shall utilize the same to immediately remove any feces deposited by such animal on
any public or private premises and shall dispose of the same in any method allowable by law at
the consenting owner's or such person's residence. Compliance with the requirements of this
subsection shall not constitute a defense to or in any way absolve any person from any liability or
penalty resulting from a violation of Subsection A above.

§ 80-12. Impounding; repossession or disposal of dogs or cats.

Every police officer, Sanitary Inspector or humane officer finding a dog or cat at-large shall seize
such dog or cat and impound it in the place provided by the Wisconsin Humane Society.

https://ecode360.com/print/16220886#16220886
https://ecode360.com/print/16220887#16220887
https://ecode360.com/print/16220888#16220888
https://ecode360.com/print/8428873#8428873
https://ecode360.com/print/8428876#8428876
https://ecode360.com/print/8428877#8428877
https://ecode360.com/print/8428879#8428879
https://ecode360.com/print/8431291#8431291
https://ecode360.com/print/8428876#8428876


[1]

B. 

A. 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

[1]

(4) 

B. 

A. 

B. 

The possession of any licensed dogs or cats so seized or impounded may be obtained by the
owner upon payment of the daily boarding fee to the Wisconsin Humane Society for keeping such
dog or cat for each day or fraction thereof during which the dog or cat has been impounded. The
possession of an unlicensed dog or cat may be obtained by the owner after obtaining a license
and paying the fee provided herein. If any dog or cat that has been impounded for seven days has
not been reclaimed by its owner, such dog or cat may be disposed of by the Wisconsin Humane
Society in the most humane manner.[1]

Editor's Note: Amended at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. I).

§ 80-13. Limiting number of dogs.

No person residing within the City shall keep more than two dogs, cats or tiny horses on the
premises occupied by him or her, with the exception of a litter, which may be kept for not more
than six months from birth and with the exception hereinafter provided in Subsection B. Persons
having more than the prescribed number of animals at the time this article became effective shall
be permitted to keep them, but may not replace them when they are disposed of.

Authority to keep up to 10 dogs shall be by permit. The applicant for such permit must meet the
following conditions:

The applicant is a resident of the city.

The dogs are to be housed on the applicant's premises containing 10 or more acres of land.

The dogs are to be properly housed and kept completely fenced in not less than 500 feet from
the nearest dwelling, except the applicant's dwelling, and not less than 200 feet from lot lines.

All dogs shall be properly licensed. The applicant for permit must file by June 1 each year and
pay an annual permit fee as specified in Chapter 169, Licenses and Permits. The permit shall
be for one year; the date of issuance shall be January 1, with the date of expiration being
December 31 following.[1]

Editor's Note: Amended at time of adoption of Code (see Ch. 1, General Provisions, Art. I).

§ 80-14. Prohibiting injury by dogs.

No dog shall bite, injure or cause injury to a person, livestock, other animal or property. The owner
or keeper of such dog which bites, injures or causes such injury shall be responsible for the bite or
injury regardless of whether the owner or keeper knew or should have known that the dog would
bite or cause injury.

Instead of or in addition to the penalties provided for in § 80-9, the owner or keeper of a dog which
violates this section shall be subject to the penalties as provided in Chapter 1, General Provisions,
§ 1-19.

§ 80-15. Violations and penalties.

In addition to the suspension or revocation of any license or permit granted under this article, any
person who shall violate any provision of this article shall be subject to a penalty as provided in
Chapter 1, General Provisions, § 1-19.

https://ecode360.com/print/8428880#8428880
https://ecode360.com/print/8428882#8428882
https://ecode360.com/print/8428884#8428884
https://ecode360.com/print/8428885#8428885
https://ecode360.com/print/8428886#8428886
https://ecode360.com/print/8428887#8428887
https://ecode360.com/print/8428883#8428883
https://ecode360.com/print/8428889#8428889
https://ecode360.com/print/8428890#8428890
https://ecode360.com/print/8427951#8427951
https://ecode360.com/print/8427952#8427952
https://ecode360.com/print/8428883#8428883
https://ecode360.com/print/8431177#8431177
https://ecode360.com/print/8427951#8427951
https://ecode360.com/print/8427952#8427952
https://ecode360.com/print/8428870#8428870
https://ecode360.com/print/8427951#8427951
https://ecode360.com/print/8428000#8428000
https://ecode360.com/print/8427951#8427951
https://ecode360.com/print/8428000#8428000


Submitted 26 June 2020
Accepted 2 September 2020
Published 22 September 2020

Corresponding author
Israel Del Toro,
israel.deltoro@lawrence.edu,
israedt@gmail.com

Academic editor
Brock Harpur

Additional Information and
Declarations can be found on
page 12

DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021

Copyright
2020 Del Toro and Ribbons

Distributed under
Creative Commons CC-BY 4.0

OPEN ACCESS

No Mow May lawns have higher
pollinator richness and abundances:
An engaged community provides floral
resources for pollinators
Israel Del Toro1 and Relena R. Ribbons2

1Biology, Lawrence University, Appleton, WI, United States of America
2Geosciences, Lawrence University, Appleton, WI, United States of America

ABSTRACT
No Mow May is a community science initiative popularized in recent years that
encourages property owners to limit their lawn mowing practices during the month
of May. The goal of No Mow May is to provide early season foraging resources for
pollinators that emerge in the spring, especially in urban landscapes when few floral
resources are available. We worked with the city council of Appleton, Wisconsin,
USA. to allow No Mow May to take place in May 2020. Four hundred and thirty-
five property owners registered for No Mow May in Appleton. We measured floral
and bee richness and abundance in the yards of a subset of homes (N = 20) located
near regularly mowed urban parks (N = 15) at the end of the month. We found that
homes that participated in No Mow May had more diverse and abundant flora than
regularly mowed green spaces throughout the city. No Mow May homes had three
times higher bee richness and five times higher bee abundances than frequently mowed
greenspaces. Using generalized linear models, we found that the best predictor of bee
richness was the size of the designated unmowed area, and the best predictors of bee
abundances were the size of the unmowed area as well as floral richness. While our
findings cannot conclusively attribute increases in bee abundances and richness to
the No Mow May efforts, our data does show that bee pollinators make use of no
mow spaces as key floral resources during early spring in the upper midwestern United
States. A post-NoMowMay survey revealed that the participants were keen to increase
native floral resources in their yards, increase native bee nesting habitat, reducemowing
intensities, and limit herbicide, pesticide, and fertilizer applications to their lawns. The
No Mow May initiative educated an engaged community on best practices to improve
the conservation of urban pollinators in future years.

Subjects Biodiversity, Conservation Biology, Ecology, Entomology, Coupled Natural and Human
Systems
Keywords Urban biodiversity, Native bees, Lawn management, Bee biodiversity, Citizen science,
Urban ecology

INTRODUCTION
As landscapes become increasingly urbanized, biodiversity is threatened by land use
modifications, a changing climate, and poor management practices (Elmqvist, Zipperer
& Güneralp, 2016). A notable component of the urban landscape in the United States is

How to cite this article Del Toro I, Ribbons RR. 2020. No MowMay lawns have higher pollinator richness and abundances: An engaged
community provides floral resources for pollinators. PeerJ 8:e10021 http://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021

https://peerj.com
mailto:israel.deltoro@lawrence.edu
mailto:israedt@gmail.com
https://peerj.com/academic-boards/editors/
https://peerj.com/academic-boards/editors/
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/
http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/
http://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


a monoculture lawn that is heavily manicured with frequent mowing, and chemically
managed. In Wisconsin many lawns are typically seeded with fine fescue or Kentucky
bluegrass and in the United States managed lawns account for a land surface area greater
than any cultivated crop (Milesi et al., 2005). In order to protect as much biodiversity as
possible, urban landscapes must be a careful balance of natural habitats, managed urban
greenspaces (often consisting of large lawn areas), and functional urban spaces (i.e., spaces
that can provide recreational services while maintaining healthy ecosystems) that can
accommodate many species (Shochat et al., 2010). These urban areas can also be essential
for protecting the hundreds of native bee species through supplementing foraging resources
for both native and non-native species that provide ecosystem services.

Insects play a large role in a variety of critical ecosystem services that shape and maintain
natural and urban landscapes (IPBES, 2016), and there is increasing recognition that their
conservation is vital in light of trends of global insect declines. These ecosystem services
include provisioning, cultural, supporting, and regulating services ranging from nutrient
cycling to pollination (Prather et al., 2013; Noriega et al., 2018). One functional group of
interest for protection are native pollinators which are integral to sustaining agricultural
food systems (IPBES, 2016) andmay play important functional roles in urban settings (Hall
et al., 2017). Urban and suburban landscapes have the potential to protect and enhance wild
bee diversity and abundances (Pardee & Philpott, 2014; Baldock et al., 2015; Baldock et al.,
2019; Lowenstein, Matteson & Minor, 2015; Wilson & Jamieson, 2019; Wenzel et al., 2020)
via careful policy development (Hall & Steiner, 2019) and promotion of pollinator friendly
behaviors among the urban public (Hall et al., 2017; Zattara & Aizen, 2019; Cardoso et al.,
2020).

The state of Wisconsin lists nearly 500 species of native bees (Wolf & Ascher, 2008). In
the city of Appleton, we have previously documented 89 species of wild bees in urban green
spaces and suburban nature reserves (Anderson et al., 2017–2018, unpublished data). Some
of these are early emerging species, coming out of winter hibernation between late April
and early June, as temperatures go above freezing and daylength increases in Northeast
Wisconsin. During this time, there may be limited forage available, especially in fairly
homogenous mowed urban lawn environments, where herbaceous vegetation is not given
enough time to flower. The flora in these lawn areas may provide abundant forage for
urban wild bees (MacIvor, Cabral & Packer, 2014).

The displacement of native wildflower and tree forage by lawns has removed a vital
early season nectar and pollen resource for many pollinators, including bees. One initiative
that was popularized in the United Kingdom through the organization Plantlife (2020),
aimed at allowing flowers to bloom in lawns throughout the month of May to provide
the floral nectar needed for pollinators. This initiative has been dubbed ‘‘No Mow May’’
and led researchers to follow up with an ‘‘Every Flower Counts’’ community initiative to
document which flowers were common to their blooming lawns. Additionally, previous
work has shown that reducing mowing intensity will have positive impacts on urban
bee abundance and diversity (Lerman et al., 2018, Wastian et al. 2016) but it remains
unclear how generalizable these results are. Other initiatives that promote the creation
of bee habitat in urban landscapes include the ‘‘Lawns to Legumes’’ project Minnesota

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 2/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


(https://bwsr.state.mn.us/l2l) and the Xerces Society’s and National Pollinator Network’s
‘‘Million Pollinator Garden Project’’ (http://millionpollinatorgardens.org/). These national
efforts are also complemented by more localized efforts with similar pollinator protection
project like the ‘‘Appleton Pollinator Project’’ (http://www.BYOBEEZ.org).

The goal of No Mow May in Appleton, Wisconsin was to increase the floral forage
resources critical for early emerging pollinator species. A second goal of this initiative was
the outreach and education regarding the protection of native wild pollinators in urban and
suburban settings. Our main objective was to test whether not mowing during the month
of May had an effect on bee richness and abundances in the city of Appleton WI, USA. We
did this by comparing bee richness and abundances in No Mow May participant’s lawns,
relative to regularly mowed parks in the city. We also aimed to document the diversity
of floral resources in both the mowed parks and the unmowed lawns as these are likely
the resources that bee pollinators are using in urban yards. Our final objective was to
document community perspectives after participating in the No Mow May initiative to
see how landowners plan to manage lawns in the future and enhance pollinator friendly
practices.

MATERIALS & METHODS
Study area
Appleton, Wisconsin is located at the transition zone between Northcentral Hardwood
Forests and Central Wisconsin Till (Environmental Protections Agency Ecoregion Level
III) within the upper Midwestern United States. The city has a population of 74,098
with upwards of 30,000 households (US Census estimates July 2019). The average low
temperature in Appleton for the month of May was 1.4 ◦C and the average high was
12.1 ◦C (National Weather Service). We selected 20 homes in five neighborhoods of the
city of Appleton (presented as Fig. 1) to sample bee richness and abundance during the final
week of No MowMay (May 25 to May 30, 2020), with the help of eight volunteers. Homes
were selected based on being unmowed through the entire month, and their proximity
(within 1 km) to the focal parks where bee diversity was also evaluated. Whenever possible,
homes were separated by at least 100 m to reduce the likelihood of resampling individual
bees at multiple homes.

The No Mow May initiative in the city of Appleton consisted of 435 registered
participants (Fig. 1), or ∼1.5% of Appleton residences. There was also participation
in the city by many unregistered participants, but we were not able to quantify what
percentage of the city did not register yet still participated in No Mow May. Of the 435
registered participants, 130 responded to the post-No Mow May survey, a ∼30% response
rate. At the subset of 20 homes the mean unmowed area was 195 sq. meters, ranging from
91 sq. meters to 446 sq. meters.

Working with city government and the community
The NoMowMay efforts in the city of AppletonWI USA (Fig. 1) required the approval and
close collaboration with the city government and city residents. The city has strict guidelines
on lawn care practices including a residential 20 cm (8 inch) allowed maximum lawn

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 3/16

https://peerj.com
https://bwsr.state.mn.us/l2l
http://millionpollinatorgardens.org/
http://www.BYOBEEZ.org
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Figure 1 Map of the study area.Map of the city of Appleton showing participating homes in No Mow
May (black points) created in ggmap (Kahle & Wickham, 2013). Color points indicate lawns and colored
triangles show green spaces where bee diversity and abundance were recorded. Insets show the location of
Appleton in the state of Wisconsin and a national map of states with Wisconsin colored in.

Full-size DOI: 10.7717/peerj.10021/fig-1

height in residential properties and 31 cm (12 inch) maximum lawn height in commercial
properties. Local government officials petitioned the city to waive the ordinance for the
month of May 2020. After multiple meetings, discussion with city officials, and a vote in
the city common council the resolution was approved in April 2020. Community members
of the city of Appleton were asked to register their homes as participants of No Mow May
via an online form. A local pollinator advocacy group, The Pollenablers Fox Cities, worked
on outreach and education to inform the community of Appleton of the agreed upon rules
and regulations of the No Mow May initiative via instructional videos, social media, and
printed materials. Many of these materials can be found on the Appleton Pollinator Project
website (http://www.BYOBEEZ.org).

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 4/16

https://peerj.com
https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021/fig-1
http://www.BYOBEEZ.org
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Data collection
We used standardized timed sweep netting as our method of bee collection. At each home
we measured the area designated by the resident as a unmowed area and standardized our
sampling based on square meters. For each sampling location, we standardized sampling
by dedicating one-person hour of sampling per 200 square meters of unmowed area.
Sampling was completed only during fair weathered days when air temperatures ranged
from 21 ◦C to 27 ◦C, mostly sunny and clear skies and low wind speeds <8 kph (there was
one day of rain which prohibited sampling). As we netted suspected bee specimens, the
bees were moved into storage mason jars. Collected bees were identified in the field using
a well-established and verified reference collection for the city of Appleton (obtained from
(Anderson et al., 2017-2018, unpublished data)), then released once the sampling period
was concluded at each site. Unknown specimens were stored in 70% ETOH, and taken to
the laboratory for subsequent identification using various keys and regional lists (Wolf &
Ascher, 2008;Williams et al., 2014;Wilson & Carril, 2015; Gibbs et al., 2017).

At each home we compiled a flowering vegetation species list, and measured percent
cover in five 1-square meter plots of herbaceous vegetation relative to lawn grasses or bare
ground. We selected the vegetation plot locations randomly after gridding the total lawn
area and using random number generators to designate percent cover plot locations within
that grid. For subsequent analyses we used the mean of these five vegetation assessments
as a predictor of bee richness and abundance. Plants were identified to species through
personal knowledge and using University of Wisconsin herbarium keys (University of
Wisconsin Herbarium, 2020) where necessary. We also sampled 15 mowed areas in the city
of Appleton, intended to serve as a standardized mowed plot comparison for lawns. The
city of Appleton manages these parks by mowing every 5 to 7 days, applying vinegar-based
solution as an herbicide and unspecified fertilizers. Individual lawns that were regularly
mowed would be a useful comparison, but given the opt-in nature of this experiment,
individuals who did not express interest in the program (regardless of ability to participate)
were not numerous enough to serve as a sufficient standardized control. At each park we
sampled 150 square meters for a total duration of 45 min to remain consistent with our
sampling methods of residential yards. All park plots were a minimum of 100 m apart
from each other to help reduce the probability of recapturing bee specimens in multiple
plots. We acknowledge that for some of the larger species, foraging ranges exceed 100 m
and every effort was made to avoid resampling and recapturing sampled individuals. While
park plots and lawns do have distinctive differences in function and use, we used parks due
to logistics of acquiring approval for sampling and the consistency of lawn care practices
applied to all parks throughout the city.

Post no mow may survey
Immediately after completing the month of May sampling, we surveyed all 435 registered
participants regarding their perceptions of the results of No Mow May and how their lawn
care practices might change, and 130 of the participants responded. We asked participants
about perceptions of pollinators and flowers in their yards: (1) Did you see pollinators
in your yard this year? and (2) Did you see more flowers in your yard this year? We also

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 5/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Table 1 List of the most common flowering plants in home and park lawns.

Name CommonName Percent of
homes present

Percent of
parks present

Taraxacum officinale Dandelions 100% 73%
Viola papilionacea Violet 95% 20%
Trifolium repens White Clover 80% 60%
Glechoma hederacea Creeping Charlie 75% 13%
Capsella bursa-pastoris Shepherd’s Purse 75% 40%
Plantago major Plantain 70% 53%
Cirsium arvense Canada Thistle 30% 7%

asked participants how their mowing habits might change as a result of No Mow May
and offered a checklist of things they could do in their yards to help local pollinators.
The Lawrence University Institutional Review Board (IRB: 5_10Del Toro) approved
this questionnaire and all responses were kept fully anonymous and confidential. No
identifying or demographic information was collected. Informed consent was obtained
from participants and IRB details were shared with participants when they completed the
online form.

Data analyses
All analyses and plots were completed using the R statistical software v. 4.0.0, ‘‘Arbor
Day’’ (R Development Core Team R, 2014). We compared the medians of observed bee
richness (the total number of species present in a given site) and abundance in mowed and
unmowed lawns using a KruskalWallis comparison ofmeans.We used this non-parametric
alternative due to relatively low sample sizes and variation in the normality of the data. We
then used floral richness, percent cover of herbaceous flowering vegetation, and size of the
sampling area as predictors of bee richness and abundance in a generalized linear model
(glm) assuming a Poisson family distribution, which is required for count data. The glm
was simplified using step-wise variable selection using the function ‘‘stepAIC’’ in the MASS
package (Venables & Ripley, 2002), based on the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC).

RESULTS
Floral and bee diversity
The most common and abundant floral resources in lawns and greenspaces are reported
in Table 1, with Taraxacum officinale, the common dandelion, present in all home lawns
and at 73% of urban park lawns, making it the most abundant plant and floral resource in
lawns (Table 1). Floral richness and abundance were higher in unmowed lawns relative to
mowed greenspaces (Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 14.49, df = 1, p= 0.0001 for Richness,
Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared= 16.82, df = 1, p= 0.000004 for floral density). Mowed Areas
had 36% fewer plant species and 34% lower flower density than not mowed areas (Fig. 2).
The complete floral species list can be found in the supplementary material.

We collected a total of 321 bees, consisting of 33 bee species, during the week of intensive
sampling. The five most abundant species were Lasioglossum cressoni, Hoplitis pilosifrons,

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 6/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Figure 2 Boxplot of floral richness and percent cover comparisons. Boxplot showing higher median
floral density (A) and richness (B) in No MowMay lawns (n= 20) relative to regularly mowed areas (n=
15).

Full-size DOI: 10.7717/peerj.10021/fig-2

Figure 3 Boxplot of bee abundance and richness. Boxplot showing higher median bee abundance (A)
and richness (B) in No MowMay lawns (n= 20) relative to regularly mowed areas (n= 15).

Full-size DOI: 10.7717/peerj.10021/fig-3

Melissodes bimaculatus, Apis mellifera, and Bombus impatiens which accounted for 65%
of all observed individuals. Bee abundances and richness were higher in unmowed lawns
relative to the regularly mowed green spaces (Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 19.72, df = 1,
p= 0.00000006 for bee abundance and Kruskal-Wallis chi-squared = 16.69, df = 1,
p= 0.00004 for bee richness). Median bee abundances were nearly five times higher and
bee richness was three times higher in unmowed lawns relative to regularly mowed plots
(Fig. 3, Table 2).

Generalized linear model results show that bee abundance is best predicted by the
additive effects of total area that remained unmowed and the floral richness at each
lawn (AIC of reduced model = 199.51, Null Deviance = 170 on 31 Degrees of Freedom.

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 7/16

https://peerj.com
https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021/fig-2
https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021/fig-3
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Table 2 List of bee species and abundances collected in this study.

Family Species Count in
mowed sites

Count in
unmowed sites

Andrenidae Andrena crataegi 4 8
Andrena cressoni 3 8
Andrena miranda 0 6
Andrena wilkella 0 1

Apidae Apis mellifera 1 17
Bombus impatiens 2 15
Bombus rufocinctus 0 1
Bombus vagans 1 6
Ceratina calcarata 0 4
Melissodes bimaculatus 3 16
Melissodes denticulatus 2 0
Melissodes desponsus 0 1
Melissodes druinellus 2 1
Melissodes rustica 1 1
Nomada cressoni 0 7

Halictidae Agapostemon virescens 3 7
Augochlorella aurata 0 3
Augochlorella pura 2 5
Halictus ligatus 0 6
Halictus rubicundus 0 1
Hoplitis pilosifrons 12 22
Hylaeus modestus 0 2
Hylaeus mesillae 0 3
Lasioglossum coriaceum 1 4
Lasioglossum cressonii 22 98
Lasioglossum laevissimum 1 5
Lasioglossum pilosum 0 1
Lasioglossum zephyrum 1 2
Sphecodes cressoni 1 1
Sphecodes dichrous 0 1

Megachilidae Anthidium manicatum 0 1
Megachile campanulae 1 0
Osmia pumila 0 4

However, bee richness was only best predicted by the effect of the total area that was not
mowed (AIC of the reduced model = 144.69, Null Deviance = 56.48 on 32 Degrees of
Freedom). The full stepwise model summary is available in the supplementary material.
Floral density, while significantly higher in unmowed lawns, did not have a significant
effect on bee abundance or richness.

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 8/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Post-no mow may survey results
Based on the two perception questions that we asked participants (1)Did you see pollinators
in your yard this year? and (2) Did you see more flowers in your yard this year? About 60%
of respondents noticed a few more or a lot more pollinators and flowers in their lawns this
year, and about 20% noticed no change or fewer pollinators and flowers than normal in
their yards during the month of May.

We also asked participants how they might modify their lawn management practices.
77% of respondents pledged to reduce or eliminate the use of chemical herbicides or
pesticides in their lawns, 62% pledged to reduce or eliminate the use of chemical fertilizers
in their lawns, 57% planned to increase native pollinator habitat in their yards and lawns,
and 48% planned to plant native floral resources as forage for pollinators. Eighty seven
percent of participants said they would participate in No Mow May again in future years.

DISCUSSION
Urban environments can provide opportunities for promoting floral resources for
pollinator conservation, which are especially important for early emerging bee species
during a time of year when food resources may be scarce. Our findings are consistent
with Lerman & Milam (2016) who documented bee abundance in suburban landscapes in
Western Massachusetts and suggested that spontaneous lawn flowers offer supplemental
floral resources that can support pollinators. Lawns can provide important food sources that
promote healthy pollinator populations in urban ecosystems, if managed intentionally. The
data we provide here adds to the growing body of literature that urbanized landscapes can
provide sufficient forage for wild bees and enhance bee diversity and abundances (Fetridge,
Ascher & Langellotto, 2008; Pardee & Philpott, 2014; Lowenstein, Matteson & Minor, 2015;
Hall et al., 2017; Baldock et al., 2019). We suspect that as more floral resources become
available towards the end of spring and into summer, wild urban bees will transition to
using additional foraging resources which may not be common species in traditional lawn
or grassy areas, however this pattern remains to be documented.

No Mow May lawns have a fivefold higher bee abundance and threefold higher bee
species richness compared with regularly mowed areas. This is the first study, to our
knowledge, to document the specific observed effects of No Mow May practices on bee
abundances and richness. Previous studies have detailed that different mowing practices
will impact the diversity and abundances of insects (AndreasUnterweger, Rieger & Betz,
2017) including bees (Lerman & Milam, 2016; Lerman et al., 2018). Generally, higher
mowing intensity is negatively associated with decreased abundances and diversity. Our
rapid assessment offers support for the same effect of mowing practices during early spring
in the Upper Midwestern USA on urban bee diversity and abundance. We found that the
area of lawn that was not mowed was a key predictor in both bee abundance and richness
while plant species richness only helped to explain bee species richness (glm results).
The positive relationships between increased area corresponding to increased species
abundance and richness, (i.e., ‘‘Species Area Relationship’’), are well documented in the
ecological literature (Dengler, 2009) and seem to apply to the patterns detected in urban

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 9/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


ecosystems as well (Matthies et al., 2017). The pattern of increased plant richness correlating
with increased bee richness is consistent with the ecological patterns of ‘‘diversity begets
diversity’’ where increased richness in one taxonomic group promotes richness in a closely
associated group (e.g., when habitable or usable space is limited Maynard et al., 2017).
From an applied perspective, if clusters of neighbors were to participate in No Mow May
initiatives then bee species richness and abundance should consequently increase in these
yards as a result of having a larger undisturbed contiguous area. The positive effect of
plant species richness on bee species richness is consistent with the more heterogenous
and diverse landscapes tending to provide increased niche space for hosting more species,
another well documented ecological pattern (Ebeling et al., 2008; Abbate et al., 2019).

Bees are amongst the key insect groups that provide essential ecosystem services (IPBES,
2016; Noriega et al., 2018). While the agricultural value of bee’s providing pollination
ecosystem services has been thoroughly explored (Hanley et al., 2015), their roles in
providing these services in urban ecosystems remains poorly understood. It likely that bees
also provide a valuable pollination ecosystem service in urban landscapes (Normandin et al.,
2017). Previous work has shown that if the conservation goal is protection of species (and
consequently the ecosystem services they provide), then cities are likely to play essential
roles as they can be home to as many if not more species than ‘‘natural’’ habitats (Baldock
et al., 2015).

TheNoMowMay initiative in the city of Appletonwent beyond the reduction ofmowing
practices in the community. This initiative also started a community-wide discussion on
best practices for pollinator conservation. Even though not all community members were
participants in No Mow May, this city-wide initiative offered educational opportunities
through social media platforms (http://www.facebook.com/pollenablers), traditional
media interviews (television, radio and newspaper) and by word of mouth on the benefits
of transforming lawns into pockets of urban habitat that can support and harbor native
biodiversity. We aim to more accurately quantify how these educational efforts are being
received by the city of Appleton in future years. We promoted best practices that have
positive effects on our pollinator communities like the planting of native wildflowers
(Pardee & Philpott, 2014), increasing wild bee nesting habitat (Harmon-Threatt, 2020) and
reducing herbicide and pesticide use (Muratet & Fontaine, 2015; Aronson et al., 2017). As
this initiative grows in the city, we aim to expand our education and outreach efforts so
that a broader audience is reached and hopefully motivated to participate. Although we did
not evaluate how widespread these practices are in Appleton, some of the city has now been
exposed to educational opportunities needed to promote a more sustainable and pollinator
friendly community. In general, communities tend to be aware of the importance of bees
in urban ecosystems but lack education on how to better protect them (Wilson, Forister &
Carril, 2017), or ways to participate in community initiatives (Bloom and Crowder, 2020).

In a ‘‘snapshot’’ study of this nature, the role of community involvement and buy-in
was essential. From a study design perspective, we had the capacity to choose our sampling
locations from over 400 sites around the city, allowing for a robust, standardized, and
systematic sampling design. Due to logistical constraints, and the necessity for rapid
inventory, we subsampled from five neighborhoods around the city. Our study enhanced

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 10/16

https://peerj.com
http://www.facebook.com/pollenablers
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


awareness of key ecological and conservation issues, improved the general public’s
understanding of urban ecosystems, provided community members the opportunity
to participate in data collection all of which are common individual and programmatic
outcomes of any community science project. We hope that our efforts have also enhanced
trust and communication between the general public and the local scientific community
which is can be a desirable community-level outcome of a project like No Mow May
(Jordan, Ballard & Phillips, 2012). We anticipate that, with the resulting data, community
involvement in development of pollinator protection policy at the city and regional
level is a likely future direction, which is also a valuable outcome of community science
(Adler, Green & Şekercioğlu, 2020). As an example, alderpersons are currently drafting city
ordinance proposals to enhance pollinator habitat along community trails, new housing
developments, electric line corridors and water management retention ponds. As many
community science projects can attest, communities are interested in education and
participation in the scientific process. No Mow May is an initiative that exemplifies the
adaptability and interest of landowners in moving towards conservation practices that
promote healthier and more resilient ecosystems.

Lawns are easily accessed urban spaces that can serve to protect native biodiversity.
We suspect that for a city the size of Appleton (65 square kilometers) at least 100 acres
(40 hectares) of lawn area can be managed to provide early season forage for native
pollinators by engaging in initiatives like NoMowMay. The notable higher abundance and
richness in unmowed areas suggests that the very least, the resulting floral resources are
attracting urban bees. Longitudinal studies are needed to track the temporal abundances
of populations as our communities transform into more pollinator friendly landscapes.
No Mow May might not be suitable for all urban ecosystems as much of North America
enters the spring season earlier that the Upper Midwest, and thus this initiative might
be better as No Mow March or No Mow April in warmer parts of the country. We also
recognize that this rapid biodiversity assessment is a snapshot of what occurs seasonally in
urban ecosystems. Describing the diversity patterns of bees in urban settings is a complex
ecological story. While the effect of not mowing during the month of May is documented
here, there are additional drivers (e.g., regional floral diversity, access to water and proper
nesting substrate, lawn mowing frequency and intensity) and correlates of bee richness
and abundances that should be carefully explored in future studies. Ongoing work seeks
to investigate the longitudinal patterns of urban bee diversity in this region of the United
States as well as a more detailed understanding of environmental attributes of urban
greenspaces that can enhance pollinator activity and diversity (Anderson et al., 2017–2018,
unpublished data). We aim to continue our sampling and outreach and education efforts
by expanding this effort to the entire Fox Cities Region in 2021 and promote a state-wide
No Mow May effort in subsequent years.

CONCLUSIONS
The effect of our No Mow May effort documented increases in both urban bee and
floral abundances and diversity. We found that the area that remains not mowed was

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 11/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


the strongest predictor of bee abundance and diversity, while floral species richness also
contributed to explaining bee species diversity in mowed and unmowed areas in the city of
Appleton. Based on our survey results, we found strong community enthusiasm regarding
this initiative with the majority willing to continue this and other pollinator friendly
practices in their homes and neighborhoods. In order to ensure that lawns can maximize
pollinator biodiversity protection, and valuable cultural ecosystem services then we have
to think critically about new norms for lawn maintenance which are more effective when
implemented at the neighborhood and community levels (Nassauer, Wang & Dayrell,
2009). In our case, Appleton city residents’ perceptions are often that well-manicured and
low ‘‘weed’’ diversity lawns are preferable. However, from a conservation and ecological
perspective these types of lawns may not be in line with the community biodiversity
conservation values. One way to overcome this issue is by increasing community outreach
and awareness about the importance of protecting urban bees and providing important
foraging resources for them. Additionally, future research directions should aim to
explore the city’s aesthetic perceptions of mowed lawns relative to unmowed lawn
alternatives, because this information can help shift public opinion, reinforce existing
positive perceptions of flowering lawns and address the city’s concerns about pollinator
protection initiatives (Ramer et al., 2019).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
We would like to thank the city of Appleton for allowing the No Mow May initiative,
especially Alderpersons Schultz, Metzler, Martin, and Fenton for their support in writing
the ordinance that allowed the community of Appleton to grow out their lawns. We also
thank the following volunteers that contributed by helping sample neighbor’s lawns and
urban green spaces, Joan Ribbons, Beth Johnstone, Kim Grummer, Mario Seaman, Reiko
Ramos, and 3 anonymous volunteers. We thank all Appletonians who participated in No
Mow May, their efforts and interest has generated an informed community with a keen
focus on pollinator protection. We appreciate the thorough input of Douglas Martin on
previous drafts of this work. We also acknowledge that the city of Appleton is registered
with the Xerces Society as a member of the Bee City USA program.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION AND DECLARATIONS

Funding
The authors received no funding for this work.

Competing Interests
The authors declare there are no competing interests.

Author Contributions
• Israel Del Toro conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments,
analyzed the data, prepared figures and/or tables, authored or reviewed drafts of the
paper, and approved the final draft.

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 12/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


• Relena R. Ribbons conceived and designed the experiments, performed the experiments,
authored or reviewed drafts of the paper, and approved the final draft.

Ethics
The following information was supplied relating to ethical approvals (i.e., approving body
and any reference numbers):

The Lawrence University Institutional Review Board granted ethical approval to carry
out the citizen surveys (IRB: 5_10_20_deltoro).

Data Availability
The following information was supplied regarding data availability:

The data are available in the Supplementary Files.

Supplemental Information
Supplemental information for this article can be found online at http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/
peerj.10021#supplemental-information.

REFERENCES
Abbate A, Campbell JW, Kimmel CB, KernWH. 2019. Urban development decreases

bee abundance and diversity within coastal dune systems. Global Ecology and
Conservation 20:e00711 DOI 10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00711.

Adler FR, Green AM, Şekercioğlu ÇH. 2020. Citizen science in ecology: a place
for humans in nature. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 1–13
DOI 10.1111/nyas.14340.

AndreasUnterweger P, Rieger C, Betz O. 2017. The influence of urban lawn mowing
regimes on diversity of Heteroptera (Hemiptera). HETEROPTERON Heft 48:7–21
DOI 10.15496/publikation-16026.

AronsonMFJ, Lepczyk CA, Evans KL, GoddardMA, Lerman SB, MacIvor JS, Nilon CH,
Vargo T. 2017. Biodiversity in the city: key challenges for urban green space manage-
ment. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 15:189–196 DOI 10.1002/fee.1480.

Baldock KCR, GoddardMA, Hicks DM, KuninWE, Mitschunas N, Morse H, Os-
gathorpe LM, Potts SG, Robertson KM, Scott AV, Staniczenko PPA, Stone GN,
Vaughan IP, Memmott J. 2019. A systems approach reveals urban pollinator
hotspots and conservation opportunities. Nature Ecology and Evolution 3:363–373
DOI 10.1038/s41559-018-0769-y.

Baldock KCR, GoddardMA, Hicks DM, KuninWE, Mitschunas N, Osgathorpe LM,
Potts SG, Robertson KM, Scott AV, Stone GN, Vaughan IP, Memmott J. 2015.
Where is the UK’s pollinator biodiversity? The importance of urban areas for flower-
visiting insects. Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 282:20142849
DOI 10.1098/rspb.2014.2849.

Bloom EH, Crowder DW. 2020. Promoting Data Collection in Pollinator Citizen Science
Projects. Citizen Science: Theory and Practice 5(1):3 DOI 10.5334/cstp.217.

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 13/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021#supplemental-information
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021#supplemental-information
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021#supplemental-information
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.gecco.2019.e00711
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/nyas.14340
http://dx.doi.org/10.15496/publikation-16026
http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/fee.1480
http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41559-018-0769-y
http://dx.doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2014.2849
http://dx.doi.org/10.5334/cstp.217
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Cardoso P, Barton PS, Birkhofer K, Chichorro F, Deacon C, Fartmann T, Fukushima
CS, Gaigher R, Habel JC, Hallmann CA, Hill MJ, Hochkirch A, KwakML,
Mammola S, Ari Noriega J, Orfinger AB, Pedraza F, Pryke JS, Roque FO, Settele
J, Simaika JP, Stork NE, Suhling F, Vorster C, Samways MJ. 2020. Scientists’
warning to humanity on insect extinctions. Biological Conservation 242:108426
DOI 10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108426.

Dengler J. 2009.Which function describes the species–area relationship best? A review
and empirical evaluation. Journal of Biogeography 36:728–744
DOI 10.1111/j.1365-2699.2008.02038.x.

Ebeling A, Klein AM, Schumacher J, WeisserWW, Tscharntke T. 2008.How does
plant richness affect pollinator richness and temporal stability of flower visits?. Oikos
117(12):1808–1815 DOI 10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.16819.x.

Elmqvist T, ZippererWC, Güneralp B. 2016. Urbanization, habitat loss and biodiversity
decline. Solution pathways to break the cycle. In: Routledge handbook of urbanization
and global environmental change. London and New York: Routeledge, Taylor and
Francis Group.

Fetridge ED, Ascher JS, Langellotto GA. 2008. The Bee Fauna of residential gardens in
a Suburb of New York City (Hymenoptera: Apoidea). Annals of the Entomological
Society of America 101(6):1067–1077 DOI 10.1603/0013-8746-101.6.1067.

Gibbs J, Ascher JS, Rightmyer MG, Isaacs R. 2017. The bees of Michigan (Hymenoptera:
Apoidea: Anthophila), with notes on distribution, taxonomy, pollination, and
natural history. Zootaxa 4352(1):777–780 DOI 10.11646/zootaxa.4352.1.1.

Hall DM, Camilo GR, Tonietto RK, Ollerton J, Ahrné K, Arduser M, Ascher JS, Baldock
KCR, Fowler R, Frankie G, Goulson D, Gunnarsson B, Hanley ME, Jackson JI,
Langellotto G, Lowenstein D, Minor ES, Philpott SM, Potts SG, Sirohi MH, Spevak
EM, Stone GN, Threlfall CG. 2017. The city as a refuge for insect pollinators.
Conservation Biology 31(1):24–29 DOI 10.1111/cobi.12840.

Hall DM, Steiner R. 2019. Insect pollinator conservation policy innovations: lessons for
lawmakers. Environmental Science and Policy 93:118–128 DOI 10.1016/j.envsci.2018.12.026.

Hanley N, Breeze TD, Ellis C, Goulson D. 2015.Measuring the economic value of
pollination services: principles, evidence and knowledge gaps. Ecosystem Services
14:124–132 DOI 10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.09.013.

Harmon-Threatt A. 2020. Influence of nesting characteristics on health of wild bee
communities. Annual Review of Entomology 65:39–56
DOI 10.1146/annurev-ento-011019-024955.

Jordan RC, Ballard HL, Phillips TB. 2012. Key issues and new approaches for evalu-
ating citizen-science learning outcomes. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment
10(6):307–309 DOI 10.1890/110280.

Kahle D,WickhamH. 2013. ggmap: spatial visualization with ggplot2. R Journal
5:1:144–161 DOI 10.32614/rj-2013-014.

Lerman SB, Contosta AR, Milam J, Bang C. 2018. To mow or to mow less: lawn
mowing frequency affects bee abundance and diversity in suburban yards. Biological
Conservation 221:160–174 DOI 10.1016/j.biocon.2018.01.025.

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 14/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2020.108426
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2008.02038.x
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2008.16819.x
http://dx.doi.org/10.1603/0013-8746-101.6.1067
http://dx.doi.org/10.11646/zootaxa.4352.1.1
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12840
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.12.026
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.09.013
http://dx.doi.org/10.1146/annurev-ento-011019-024955
http://dx.doi.org/10.1890/110280
http://dx.doi.org/10.32614/rj-2013-014
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2018.01.025
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Lerman SB, Milam J. 2016. Bee fauna and floral abundance within lawn-dominated
suburban yards in Springfield, MA. Annals of the Entomological Society of America
109(5):713–723 DOI 10.1093/aesa/saw043.

Lowenstein DM,Matteson KC, Minor ES. 2015. Diversity of wild bees supports
pollination services in an urbanized landscape. Oecologia 179:811–821
DOI 10.1007/s00442-015-3389-0.

MacIvor JS, Cabral JM, Packer L. 2014. Pollen specialization by solitary bees in an urban
landscape. Urban Ecosystems 17:139–147 DOI 10.1007/s11252-013-0321-4.

Matthies SA, Rüter S, Schaarschmidt F, Prasse R. 2017. Determinants of species richness
within and across taxonomic groups in urban green spaces. Urban Ecosystems
20:897–909 DOI 10.1007/s11252-017-0642-9.

Maynard DS, BradfordMA, Lindner DL, Van Diepen LTA, Frey SD, Glaeser JA,
Crowther TW. 2017. Diversity begets diversity in competition for space. Nature
Ecology and Evolution 1:0156 DOI 10.1038/s41559-017-0156.

Milesi C, Running SW, Elvidge CD, Dietz JB, Tuttle BT, Nemani RR. 2005.Mapping
and modeling the biogeochemical cycling of turf grasses in the United States.
Environmental Management 36:426–438 DOI 10.1007/s00267-004-0316-2.

Muratet A, Fontaine B. 2015. Contrasting impacts of pesticides on butterflies and
bumblebees in private gardens in France. Biological Conservation 182:148–154
DOI 10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.045.

Nassauer JI, Wang Z, Dayrell E. 2009.What will the neighbors think? Cultural norms
and ecological design. Landscape and Urban Planning 92(3–4):282–292
DOI 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2009.05.010.

Noriega JA, Hortal J, Azcárate FM, BergMP, Bonada N, Briones MJI, DelToro I,
Goulson D, Ibanez S, Landis DA, Moretti M, Potts SG, Slade EM, Stout JC,
UlyshenMD,Wackers FL,Woodcock BA, Santos AMC. 2018. Research trends
in ecosystem services provided by insects. Basic and Applied Ecology 26:8–23
DOI 10.1016/j.baae.2017.09.006.

Normandin É, Vereecken NJ, Buddle CM, Fournier V. 2017. Taxonomic and
functional trait diversity of wild bees in different urban settings. PeerJ 5:e3051
DOI 10.7717/peerj.3051.

Pardee GL, Philpott SM. 2014. Native plants are the bee’s knees: local and landscape
predictors of bee richness and abundance in backyard gardens. Urban Ecosystems
17:641–659 DOI 10.1007/s11252-014-0349-0.

PBES I. 2016. The assessment report on pollinators, pollination and food production.
DOI 10.1109/22.989993.

Plantlife. 2020. Plantlife. Available at https://www.plantlife.org.uk/uk.
Prather CM, Pelini SL, Laws A, Rivest E, Woltz M, Bloch CP, DelToro I, Ho C-K, Komi-

noski J, Newbold TAS, Parsons S, Joern A. 2013. Invertebrates, ecosystem services
and climate change. Biological Reviews 88(2):327–348 DOI 10.1111/brv.12002.

RDevelopment Core Team R. 2014. R: a language and environment for statistical
computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, 409
DOI 10.1007/978-3-540-74686-7.

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 15/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/aesa/saw043
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00442-015-3389-0
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11252-013-0321-4
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11252-017-0642-9
http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/s41559-017-0156
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00267-004-0316-2
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2014.11.045
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2009.05.010
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.baae.2017.09.006
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3051
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11252-014-0349-0
http://dx.doi.org/10.1109/22.989993
https://www.plantlife.org.uk/uk
http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/brv.12002
http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/978-3-540-74686-7
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021


Ramer H, Nelson KC, SpivakM,Watkins E, Wolfin J, Pulscher ML. 2019. Ex-
ploring park visitor perceptions of ‘flowering bee lawns’ in neighborhood
parks in Minneapolis, MN, US. Landscape and Urban Planning 189:117–128
DOI 10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.04.015.

Shochat E, Lerman SB, Anderies JM,Warren PS, Faeth SH, Nilon CH. 2010. Invasion,
competition, and biodiversity loss in urban ecosystems. BioScience 60(3):199–208
DOI 10.1525/bio.2010.60.3.6.

VenablesW, Ripley B. 2002.MASS: R Package.Modern Applied Statistics with S. New
York.

Wastian L, Unterweger PA, Betz O. 2016. Influence of the reduction of urban lawn
mowing on wild bee diversity (Hymenoptera, Apoidea). Journal of Hymenoptera
Research DOI 10.3897/jhr.49.7929.

Wenzel A, Grass I, Belavadi VV, Tscharntke T. 2020. How urbanization is driving
pollinator diversity and pollination –a systematic review. In: Biological Conservation.
New York: Springer DOI 10.1016/j.biocon.2019.108321.

Williams PH, Thorp RW, Richardson LL, Colla SR. 2014. Bumble Bees of North America:
an identification guide. Princeton: Princeton University Press.

Wilson CJ, JamiesonMA. 2019. The effects of urbanization on bee communities
depends on floral resource availability and bee functional traits. PLOS ONE
DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0225852.

Wilson JS, Carril OJ. 2015. The bees in your backyard. Princeton: Princeton University
Press.

Wilson JS, Forister ML, Carril OM. 2017. Interest exceeds understanding in public sup-
port of bee conservation. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 15(8):460–466
DOI 10.1002/fee.1531.

Wolf AT, Ascher JS. 2008. BEES of wisconsin (Hymenoptera: apoidea: Anthophila).
Great Lakes Entomologist 41:129–162.

Zattara EE, AizenMA. 2019. Global bee decline. bioRxiv preprint DOI 10.1101/869784.

Del Toro et al. (2020), PeerJ, DOI 10.7717/peerj.10021 16/16

https://peerj.com
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2019.04.015
http://dx.doi.org/10.1525/bio.2010.60.3.6
http://dx.doi.org/10.3897/jhr.49.7929
http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2019.108321
http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0225852
http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/fee.1531
http://dx.doi.org/10.1101/869784
http://dx.doi.org/10.7717/peerj.10021

	01 2022-0622 Environmental Commission Agenda
	02 2022-0525 Environmental Comm Minutes-draft_Jamie (rev. 6-20-22)
	03 Item IV.D Copy of 2022-06-16 Environmental Commission Budget Worksheet
	04 Item IV.F - Chapter 80, Article II, City of Franklin, WI Ecode360
	05 Item V.D No Mow May peerj-08-10021

